



RULES OF PROCEDURE

(Rules of procedure which are also provisions of the Convention are asterisked for ease of reference)

Chapter 1 - Representation

1. Each Contracting Party shall appoint to the Commission not more than two representatives who may be accompanied at any of its meetings by experts and advisers (Article 3(3) of the Convention).*
2. Contracting Parties shall inform the Secretary of the names of their appointed representatives and of the approximate number of experts or advisers expected to attend each meeting, no later than one month prior to the meeting.
3. The Commission may invite any Government or international organisation to be represented at its meeting by an observer delegation. Observer status shall be governed by the Rules set out in Chapter 8¹

Chapter 2 - President and Vice Presidents

4. The Commission shall elect its own President and not more than two Vice Presidents (Article 3(4) of the Convention).*
5. The President shall be elected from among the Contracting Parties for a term of three years and shall be eligible for re-election provided that he shall not serve for more than two terms in succession. He shall remain in office until the end of the year of the Annual Meeting² in which his successor is elected. A representative of a Contracting Party who is elected President shall no longer represent that Contracting Party, which will have the right to appoint another representative. The President may resign at any time. In the event

¹ Amended at the 20th Annual Meeting, 2001

² Amended at the 21st Annual Meeting, 2002

of the office of President falling vacant the Commission shall elect a new President at its next meeting. The term of office of the incumbent President of NEAFC will terminate at the end of the year in which his successor is elected. Furthermore, the term of office of the new President will start on January 1 of the year immediately following his election

6. The President shall have the following powers and responsibilities:
 - (a) convene the regular and extraordinary meetings of the Commission in accordance with Article 3(6) of the Convention;
 - (b) preside at each meeting of the Commission;
 - (c) open and close each meeting of the Commission;
 - (d) make rulings on points of order raised at meetings of the Commission, provided that each representative retains the right to request that any such decision be submitted to the Commission for approval;
 - (e) put questions and notify the Commission of the results of votes;
 - (f) approve a provisional Agenda for the meeting after consultation with representatives and the Secretary (see also paragraph 28);
 - (g) sign, on behalf of the Commission, the reports of each meeting for transmission to its members, representatives and other interested persons as official documents of the proceedings; and
 - (h) exercise other powers and responsibilities as provided in these rules and make such decisions and give such directions to the Secretary as will ensure that the business of the Commission is carried out effectively and in accordance with its decisions.
7. Two Vice-Presidents shall be elected from among the Contracting Parties for a term of three years and shall be eligible for re-election. The Vice-Presidents shall remain in office until their successors are elected but may resign at any time. In the event of an office of Vice-President falling vacant, the Commission shall elect a new Vice-President at the next meeting. One Vice-President shall be designated First Vice-President and the other Second Vice-President, but both shall have equal status. In the event of the office of President falling vacant the First Vice-President shall act as President until a new President is elected; he shall also act as President whenever the President is unable to act. A Vice President who is a member of a delegation shall not act in that capacity while he is acting as President; the Contracting Party of which he is a representative shall have the right during any such period to appoint another person to represent it in his place.
8. The same Contracting Party shall not provide the President and one or both Vice-Presidents.

Chapter 3 - Meetings

9. Except when the Commission determines otherwise, it shall meet once a year in London at such time as it decides; provided, however, that upon the request of a Contracting Party and subject to the concurrence of three other Contracting Parties, the President shall, as soon as practicable, convene a meeting at such time and place as he may determine (Article 3(6) of the Convention).*
10. Attendance by a simple majority of the Contracting Parties shall constitute a quorum for opening the meeting.
11. The President shall decide all questions of order raised at meetings of the Commission subject to the right of any Contracting Party to request that any ruling by the President shall be submitted to the Commission for decision by vote. In that event, the President shall call for a vote and announce the outcome to the Commission.
12. Observers may address the Commission at the discretion of the President. The representatives of Contracting Parties may invite their experts or advisers to address the Commission.
13. The Secretary shall draft and distribute summary records of each day's proceedings. These shall be made available to participants as soon as possible.
14. Summary records, reports, minutes of Committees, resolutions, proposals, recommendations, advice and other formal decisions adopted by the Commission shall be transmitted as soon as possible by the Secretary after each meeting to Contracting Parties and Governments and international organisations attending the meeting as observers.

Chapter 4 – Secretary

15. The Commission shall appoint its own Secretary and such other staff as it may require (Article 3(7) of the Convention).*
16. The Secretary shall be the executive officer of the Commission. All communications to and from the Commission shall be addressed to or emanate from the Secretary. Communications to Contracting Parties shall be addressed to their appointed representatives. He shall be responsible to the Commission for, *inter alia*, the following functions:
 - (a) the management of the Commission's office;
 - (b) transmitting to Contracting Parties, in English, reports of the proceedings of the Commission;

- (c) notifying Contracting Parties, without undue delay, of the recommendations adopted by the Commission under the Convention;
- (d) notifying Contracting Parties of any objections to, withdrawals from or terminations of recommendations and of the entry into force of any recommendations or agreement between Contracting Parties to give effect to a recommendation;
- (e) informing Contracting Parties of the relevant legislative measures and agreements concluded by other Contracting Parties;
- (f) preparing draft budgets and draft budget estimates, calculating and notifying Contracting Parties of the contributions due, and for the receipt and disbursement of all monies received by the Commission in accordance with the rules adopted by the Commission for the conduct of its financial affairs;
- (g) preparing a draft provisional agenda which shall be communicated to the President, representatives of Contracting Parties and invited observers not less than 60 days before the date of the meeting;
- (h) notifying Contracting Parties of any proposed amendments to the Convention;
- (i) providing secretarial services for all meetings of the Commission and of its Committees;
- (j) performing such other functions as may be assigned to him by the Commission.

Chapter 5 - Committees

- 17. The Commission may set up such Committees and other subsidiary bodies as it considers desirable for the exercise of its duties and functions (Article 3(8) of the Convention).*
- 18. The Commission shall adopt rules for the conduct of its financial affairs (Article 17(9) of the Convention).*
- 19. The Commission shall appoint a Finance and Administration Committee (the terms of reference of which shall be prescribed in the Financial Rules) and any other committees considered desirable.
- 20. Each Committee will draw up its own rules of procedure, if necessary.
- 21. Each Committee shall elect a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman. The procedure for such elections and for the conduct of business generally by Committees shall be based on that followed by the Commission.

22. Reports of the proceedings of all committees, including particulars of all proposals, shall be made to the Commission.

Chapter 6 - Voting³

23. Each Contracting Party shall have one vote in the Commission. Decisions of the Commission shall be taken by a simple majority or, if this Convention specifically requires a qualified majority, by a two-thirds majority of the votes of all Contracting Parties present and casting affirmative or negative votes, provided that no vote shall be taken unless there is a quorum of at least two thirds of the Contracting Parties. If there is an even division of votes on any matter which is subject to a simple majority decision the proposal shall be regarded as rejected (Article 3(9) of the Convention).*
24. Any amendment to a proposal before the Commission shall be voted on before the proposal.
25. Where any proposal before the Commission can be divided into separate parts, the President may, with the agreement of the majority of the Contracting Parties present, put each part to the vote separately.
26. Votes shall be taken by show of hands, or by roll call in the English alphabetical order of the names of the Contracting Parties or by ballot, as determined by the Commission. The President shall call for votes where required and announce their results to the Commission.
27. A vote may in an emergency be taken by post or other means of written communication. The issue to be put to a vote and the closing date of the voting period of 30 days shall be communicated to all Contracting Parties. The Secretariat shall ensure that the communication has been received by all Contracting Parties. The outcome of the vote shall be communicated immediately to all Contracting Parties, if applicable, starting the objection period as set out in Article 12 of the Convention. The issue to be put to a vote and the closing date of the voting period of 30 days shall be communicated to all Contracting Parties. The outcome of the vote shall be communicated immediately to all contracting Parties, if applicable, stating the objection period as set out in Article 12 of the Convention.

If a Contracting Party fails to reply within the voting period, it will be recorded as having abstained and be considered part of the relevant quorum for voting purposes.

³ Amended at the Extraordinary Meeting of NEAFC, April 2002

Chapter 7 - Order of Business

28. A provisional agenda for each meeting shall be settled by the President after consultation with Contracting Parties. It shall include all items proposed by them, and all Recommendations of the Commission that would lapse unless renewed at the meeting. The provisional agenda shall be communicated to all Contracting Parties, the date of posting to be not less than 60 days before the date of the meeting.
29. Contracting Parties proposing items for inclusion in the agenda shall provide an explanatory memorandum for each item in time for distribution with the provisional agenda.
30. Except with the unanimous agreement of all the Contracting Parties, no item of business which involves the recommendation of measures under Articles 5, 6, 7, or 8 of the Convention or the amendment of the Rules of Procedure or other standing rules, shall be the subject of decisive action by the Commission unless the subject matter has been included in the provisional agenda for the meeting at which it is discussed.
31. The official language of the Commission shall be English. Reports of the proceedings of the Commission shall be transmitted to the Contracting Parties in English.
32. In case of doubt as to the interpretation and application of any of the Rules of Procedure, the President shall give a ruling.

Chapter 8 – Rules Granting Observer Status⁴

33. The Secretary shall invite:
 - (a) intergovernmental organisations that have regular contacts with NEAFC as regards fisheries matters or whose work is of interest to NEAFC or vice versa
 - (b) non-Contracting Parties identified as harvesting fishery resources in the area beyond waters under the fisheries jurisdiction of Contracting Parties (the Regulatory Area).
34. All non-governmental organisations (NGOs) which support the objectives of the Convention, have a demonstrated interest in the species under the purview of NEAFC and are in good standing should be eligible to participate as an observer in all plenary meetings of the Commission, except meetings held in executive sessions or meetings of Heads of Delegations.

⁴ Amended at the 20th Annual Meeting, 2001

35. Any NGO desiring to participate as an observer in a meeting of the Commission shall notify the Secretary of its desire to participate at least 100 days in advance of the meeting. This application must include:
- (a) name, address, telephone, fax number and e-mail address of the organisation and the person(s) proposed to represent the organisation;
 - (b) address of all its national/regional offices;
 - (c) aims and purposes of the organisation and a statement that the NGO generally supports the objectives of the Convention, ie conservation and optimum utilisation of the fishery resources in the Convention Area;
 - (d) information on the organisation's total number of members, its decision making process and its funding;
 - (e) a brief history of the organisation and a description of its activities;
 - (f) representative papers and other similar resources produced by or for the organisation on the conservation, management, or science of fishery resources to which the Convention applies;
 - (g) a history of NEAFC observer status granted/revoked;
 - (h) information or input that the organisation plans to present at the meeting in question and that it would wish to be circulated by the Secretary for review by Contracting Parties prior to the meeting, supplied in sufficient quantity for such distribution.
36. The Secretary shall review applications received within the prescribed time and, at least 90 days before the meeting for which the application was received, shall notify the Contracting Parties of the names and qualifications of NGOs having fulfilled the requirements stipulated in Paragraphs 34 and 35. If one or more of the Contracting Parties object giving in writing its reasons within 30 days, the matter will be put to a vote by written procedure. Applications will then be considered as accepted in accordance with the procedures laid down in Article 3, paragraph 9 of the Convention at least 30 days prior to the meeting. The Secretary shall also circulate any reasons given in a preliminary objection as well as any comments that Contracting Parties may include with their vote on this matter.
37. Any NGO admitted to a meeting of the Commission may:
- (a) attend meetings, as set forth above, but may not vote;
 - (b) make an oral statement during the meeting upon invitation of the Chairman;
 - (c) distribute documents at the meetings through the Secretary;
 - (d) engage in other activities as appropriate and as approved by the Chairman.

Any NGO admitted to a meeting of the Commission may not use films, videos, tape recording devices etc to record meeting proceedings.

38. If additional expenses are incurred by their participation, observers will be required to pay a fee, as determined by the Secretary.
39. The Secretary will determine whether, due to conference room capacity, seating limitations require that a limited number of observers per NGO may be present at any meeting. The Secretary will transmit any such determination in the conditions of participation.
40. All observers admitted to a meeting shall be sent or otherwise receive the same documentation generally available to Contracting Parties and their delegations, except those documents deemed confidential by a Contracting Party or the Secretary.
41. All observers admitted to a meeting shall comply with all rules and procedures applicable to other participants in the meeting. Failure to conform to these rules or any other rules that NEAFC may adopt for the conduct of observers may result in removal from the meeting by the presiding officer and revocation of observer status.

Chapter 9 – Dispute Settlement⁵

42. In accordance with Articles 12 and 13 of the Convention on Future Multilateral cooperation in North-East Atlantic Fisheries the following procedure should be followed: A Contracting Party which presents an objection to a recommendation in accordance with Article 12 or gives notice of the termination of its acceptance of a recommendation in accordance with Article 13, shall give a statement of the reasons for its objection or notice and a declaration of its intentions following the objection or notice, including a description of any alternative conservation and management measures which the Contracting Party intends to take or has already taken.
43. In accordance with Article 18 bis of the Convention on Future Multilateral Cooperation in North-East Atlantic Fisheries, hereinafter referred to as “the Convention” , the following procedures for the settlement of disputes are established:
 - (a) Contracting Parties shall co-operate in order to prevent disputes referred to in paragraph 2 and 3.
 - (b) If any dispute arises between two or more Contracting Parties concerning the interpretation or application of the Convention, those Contracting Parties shall

⁵ Adopted at the 23th Annual Meeting November 2004

expeditiously seek to resolve the dispute by consultation, negotiation, inquiry, mediation, conciliation, arbitration, judicial settlement or other peaceful means of their own choice.

(c) Where a dispute concerns the application of the Convention or the interpretation or application of a recommendation adopted by the Commission, the parties to the dispute may refer the dispute to an *ad hoc* panel constituted in accordance with rules of procedure adopted by the Commission. The panel shall at the earliest possible opportunity confer with the Contracting Parties concerned and shall endeavour to resolve the dispute expeditiously.

(d) Where the parties to a dispute have agreed to refer the dispute to the *ad hoc* panel procedure, they may agree at the same time to apply provisionally the relevant recommendation adopted by the Commission until the panel finalizes its work or the dispute is resolved by the parties to the dispute, whichever occurs first. Pending the settlement of a dispute in accordance with paragraph 5, the parties to the dispute shall apply provisionally any measure described by the panel. That provisional application shall cease when the parties to the dispute agree on arrangements of equivalent effect, when a judicial body to which the dispute has been referred in accordance with paragraph 5 has taken a provisional or definitive decision or, in any case, at the date of expiration of the recommendation of the Commission at issue.

(e) Where a dispute is not resolved by recourse to the means set out in paragraphs 2 and 3, one of the parties to the dispute may refer the dispute to compulsory procedures entailing binding decisions. Such procedures shall be governed *mutatis mutandis* by the provisions relating to the settlement of disputes set out in Part XV of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 (1982 UN Convention) or, where the dispute concerns one or more straddling stocks, by the provisions set out in Part VIII of the Agreement for the Implementation of the Provisions of the United Nations Convention on the Law of the Sea of 10 December 1982 relating to the Conservation and Management of Straddling Fish Stocks and Highly Migratory Fish Stocks of 4 August 1995 (1995 Agreement). The relevant parts of the 1982 UN Convention and the 1995 Agreement shall apply whether or not the parties to the dispute are also Parties to these instruments.

(f) A panel or judicial body to which any dispute has been referred under this Article shall apply, as appropriate, the relevant provisions of the Convention, of the 1982 UN Convention, of the 1995 Agreement, and other rules of international law compatible with the said instruments, as well as recommendations of the Commission which are applicable to the parties of the dispute, with a view to ensuring the conservation and optimum utilisation of the fish stocks concerned.

Chapter 10 - Amendment of Rules

42. Subject to the following exception, these rules of procedure and any other standing rules may be amended by a simple majority of the Contracting Parties voting, subject to

paragraph 30 of these Rules of Procedures, provided that the text of the proposed amendments has been included with the provisional agenda. However, those rules of procedure which are also provisions of the Convention may only be amended under the provisions set out at Article 19 of the Convention.

RULES FOR FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE

(Rules which are also provisions of the Convention are asterisked)

Chapter 1 - General Financial Arrangements

1. The financial year of the Commission shall be from 1 January to 31 December.
2. The Secretary shall:
 - (a) establish such detailed financial procedures and accounting records as are necessary to ensure effective financial administration and control of the Commission's funds;
 - (b) deposit and maintain the funds of the Commission with a financial institution to be approved by the President;
 - (c) invest, in consultation with the President, such monies that are not expected to be required for disbursement within a reasonable period.

Chapter 2 - Finance and Administration Committee

3. The terms of reference of the Finance and Administration Committee, appointed in accordance with paragraph 19 of the Rules of Procedure, shall be to advise the Commission on the annual budget, expenditure, contributions, amendments to these rules, staff matters, administrative matters and such other matters as the Commission may direct.
4. The Committee shall meet once a year, during the period of the annual meeting convened under Article 3(6) of the Convention, unless the Commission decides otherwise.
5. The Committee shall consist of four representatives (or delegate and advisers) from different Contracting Parties appointed by the Commission. However representatives of other Contracting Parties may participate in the proceedings of the Committee and shall have equal status with the appointed members. Such other persons as the Committee may invite may attend meetings of the Committee and, at the Chairman's discretion, participate in the deliberations but shall not have the right to vote.
6. The Committee shall elect a Chairman and a Vice-Chairman. The procedure for such elections and for the conduct of business generally shall be based on that prescribed for the Commission in the Rules of Procedure (see Chapters 2, 3, 6 and 7 of the Rules of Procedure), subject to the provisions of these Rules.

7. The Chairman shall report the proceedings of the Committee, including where appropriate particulars of votes taken, to the Commission.

Chapter 3 - Budget

8. At each annual session the Commission shall adopt a budget for the following financial year and a budget estimate for the financial year following thereafter. A draft budget and draft budget estimate shall be submitted by the President of the Commission to the Contracting Parties not less than 40 days before the meeting of the Commission at which they are to be considered (Article 17(3) of the Convention).*
9. The draft budget for the following financial year and the draft budget estimate for the year thereafter shall be drawn up by the Secretary and agreed by the President before being circulated to Contracting Parties prior to the Annual Meeting. The budget shall cover, *inter alia*, the following items:
 - (a) salaries of Secretariat staff and accommodation charges;
 - (b) stationery, printing and postage;
 - (c) cost of meetings;
 - (d) a contribution to the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea (ICES);
 - (e) auditors' fee;
 - (f) contributions from Contracting Parties;
 - (g) any other substantial items of expenditure.
10. The budget and budget estimate shall first be considered by the Finance and Administration Committee before being considered for adoption by the Commission. The Finance and Administration Committee shall adopt proposals by a 2/3 majority of the members present.
11. Unforeseen and extraordinary expenses necessary to the good conduct of the business of the Commission, but not included in the budget, may be authorised by the President, in consultation with the Chairman of the Finance and Administration Committee. Such expenses may not be in excess of 10% of the annual budget for the current financial year.

Chapter 4 - Contributions

12. Each Contracting Party shall contribute to the budget in accordance with Article 17(4) of the Convention.
13. On approval of the budget for a financial year, the Secretary shall send a copy thereof to all Contracting Parties notifying them of their contributions and requesting them to pay their contributions no later than 1 May of the financial year for which they are payable.
14. (a) Contributions shall be made payable to the Commission and shall be proportional to the numbers of complete months remaining in the year from the date of entry into force for that Contracting Party.

(b) Where contributions are received from new Contracting Parties after the commencement of the financial year and such funds have not been taken into account in formulating the budget, appropriate adjustment shall be made to the level of the assessed contributions of existing Contracting Parties and such adjustments seconded as advances made by those Contracting Parties paid in pounds sterling. A formal receipt of payment will be issued by the Secretary.
15. Article 17(8) of the Convention applies for any Contracting Party that fails to pay its contribution for two consecutive years.
16. The contributions of a Contracting Party for which this Convention has entered into force during the course of a financial year shall for that year be a part of the annual contribution.
17. Contracting Parties which denounce the Convention under the terms of Article 21 shall pay a full contribution for each year up to and including the financial year in which the denunciation takes effect.

Chapter 5 - Accounts

18. The accounts of the Commission shall be audited annually by qualified auditors appointed by the Commission.
19. An income and expenditure account and balance sheet for the year before the previous financial year and statement of payments and receipts for the previous financial year shall be presented to the Commission at the Annual Meeting of the Finance and Administration Committee. A copy of the final accounts shall be sent to all Contracting Parties after they have been audited.
20. The auditors shall certify that the accounts present a true and fair view of the financial position of the Commission at the end of the financial period and of the transactions and

the source and application of funds during the period, and comply with rules and regulations of the Commission.

Chapter 6 - Treatment of Funds

21. To facilitate the management of the Commission's finances an Income and Expenditure Account and a General Fund shall be established. The annual contribution paid by the Contracting Parties and any other miscellaneous income shall be credited to the Income and Expenditure Account, which shall be used to finance the general expenditure of the Commission. All expenditure shall be charged to this account. The General Fund shall represent that part of the Commission's liquid assets which are held as a contingency reserve at a minimum level to be determined by the Commission on the advice of the Finance and Administration Committee.
22. The Secretary is authorised to transfer from the General Fund to the Income and Expenditure Account:-
 - (a) Such sums as may be necessary to finance approved budgetary expenditure pending receipt of contributions. Sums so advanced shall be reimbursed to the General Fund as soon as receipts from contributions are available for that purpose;
 - (b) such sums as the Finance and Administration Committee may have authorised the Secretary to withdraw;
 - (c) such sums relating to unforeseen and extraordinary expenses as may arise and which have been authorised under Rule 11 of these Rules. Sums so advanced shall be reimbursed to the General Fund as soon as possible.

Where necessary the Secretary shall make provision in the budget estimates for reimbursing the General Fund in respect of such transfers.

Chapter 7 - General

23. In case of doubt as to the interpretation and application of any of the Rules for the Finance and Administration Committee, the President shall give a ruling.
24. The Rules for the Finance and Administration Committee may be amended in accordance with rule 33 of the Rules of Procedure, except that those rules which are also provisions of the Convention (which are asterisked for ease of reference) may only be amended under the provisions set out at Article 19 of the Convention.

Chapter 8 - Administrative Matters

25. The Finance and Administration Committee shall consider such administrative matters as are referred to it by the Commission.

Terms of Reference for NEAFC's Working Groups

PERMANENT COMMITTEE ON CONTROL AND ENFORCEMENT (PECCOE)

TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Pursuant to Article 3 (8) of the Convention, and Chapter 5 of the Rules of Procedure, there shall be a **Permanent Committee on Control and Enforcement (PECCOE)**.
2. The functions of the Committee shall be to:
 - a. provide the Commission with information, technical advice and proposals relating to the implementation of, and compliance with, recommendations and measures established under Articles 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9 of the Convention ;
 - b. monitor and review the implementation of the Scheme of Control and Enforcement in respect of fishing vessels fishing in areas beyond the limits of national fisheries' jurisdiction in the Convention area ("the Scheme") ;
 - c. monitor and review the operation of the Scheme to Promote Compliance by non-Contracting Party Vessels with Recommendations established by NEAFC.
3. In performing its functions, the Committee shall
 - a. review and evaluate the effectiveness of the recommendations and measures established by the Commission ;
 - b. review and evaluate reports on the inspection and surveillance activities carried out by the Contracting Parties ;
 - c. review and evaluate reports on infringements, including serious infringements, and the follow-up thereto by the Contracting Party;
 - d. promote the coordination of inspection and surveillance activities carried out by the Contracting Parties ;
 - e. co-ordinate and develop the North Atlantic format ;
 - f. provide a forum of information concerning the implementation of, and compliance with, recommendations and measures established by the Commission and complementary measures adopted within areas under national fisheries' jurisdiction of the Contracting Parties ;
 - g. monitor the activities of non-Contracting Party vessels and any actions related thereto ;
 - h. consider such other technical matters as may be referred to it by the Commission ;
 - i. report to the Commission its findings, conclusions and/or proposals; and
 - j. any proposals by Contracting Parties or other papers to be considered by the Committee shall be forwarded to the Secretariat not less than 30 days before the meeting and shall immediately be circulated to Contracting Parties⁶.
4. The Committee shall meet in conjunction with the Annual Meeting and intersessionally if deemed necessary by the Commission.

⁶ Adopted at the 20th Annual Meeting, November 2001

5. The Committee may establish, with the approval of the Commission, such subsidiary bodies as are necessary for the performance of its functions.

ADVISORY GROUP FOR DATA COMMUNICATIONS

TERMS OF REFERENCE

- 1) The functions of the Advisory Group shall be to:
 - a) Monitor developments in data communication in relation to NEAFC, NAFO and other RFMOs;
 - b) Promote harmonisation of communications protocols used in NEAFC, NAFO, by Contracting Parties and other Regional Fisheries Management Organisations (RFMOs);
 - c) Ensure the standardization of the North-Atlantic Format and act as repository of the format;
 - d) Examine any relevant issues related to the functioning of the VMS;
 - e) On request from NEAFC, NAFO, or other RFMOs, or from Contracting Parties provide advice on proposals for amendments to message formats or other matters concerning data communications;
 - f) Present recommendations to NEAFC, NAFO, or other RFMOs or to Contracting Parties for amendments to message formats or other improvements in the field of data communication.
- 2) In performing its functions, the Advisory Group shall:
 - a) Invite Contracting Parties of NEAFC, NAFO and other RFMOs to participate in its meetings;
 - b) Develop a close cooperation with the secretariats of NEAFC, NAFO and other RFMOs.
- 3) The advisory group shall elect a chairman and a vice-chairman and draw up its own rules of procedure.

PERMANENT COMMITTEE ON MANAGEMENT AND SCIENCE
TERMS OF REFERENCE

1. Pursuant to Article 3 (8) of the Convention, and Chapter 5 of the Rules of Procedure, there shall be a **Permanent Committee on Management and Science**.
2. The functions of the Committee shall be to:
 - a. draft requests for advice under the Memorandum of Understanding with the International Council for the Exploration of the Sea;
 - b. Review proposals for management measures, submitted by Contracting Parties, to take due account of the impact of fisheries on other species and marine ecosystems and of the need to conserve marine biological diversity, and in doing so propose, where necessary, conservation and management measures that address the need to minimise harmful impacts on living marine resources and marine ecosystems; and
 - c. provide the Commission with information on developments in science, technology and management tools to ensure that management measures are based on the best scientific evidence available i.e. changes in assessment methods, changes in the perception of data and progress with respect to moving from stock based advice to fishery based advice as well as monitoring the progress of the ecosystem approach and the integration of fisheries management and environmental concerns;
 - d. at the request of the Commission review the effectiveness of the management measures and plans agreed;
 - e. review the support of conduct of scientific research to be used in the advisory process and possible NEAFC initiatives in this respect;
 - f. consider such other management and science matters as may be referred by the Commission ;
 - g. report its findings, conclusions and/or proposals to the Commission.
3. The Committee shall work by correspondence and the Secretariat shall propose solutions, which allow the optimum use of electronic communication and the NEAFC website. The Committee may meet in conjunction with the Annual Meeting and inter-sessionally if deemed necessary by the Commission.
4. The Committee may establish, with the approval of the Commission, such subsidiary bodies as are necessary for the performance of its functions.

WORKING GROUP ON THE FUTURE OF NEAFC

TERMS OF REFERENCE

The Working Group on the Future of NEAFC shall look into the following issues:

The WG on the Future of NEAFC shall evaluate the role of NEAFC in taking a broader ecosystem approach to fisheries management. In that regard, the WG on the Future of NEAFC shall examine how to strengthen the role of NEAFC in addressing overall ocean management in the Convention Area. The WG shall look into the possible restriction in this respect in the Convention and the consequent need for interpretation and/or amendment.

The WG shall also examine the role of other regional and global organisations involved in ocean issues in the Convention Area. In this respect, possible gaps or overlaps in work, should be given due attention. Areas of cooperation shall be identified in order to promote responsible and coordinated ocean management in the Convention area.

The WG shall make a recommendation on these issues to the 24th Annual Meeting of NEAFC.